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"towns" was erected, and this became a "royal province" in 1679 with 
John Cutt as president, with a population intended to be as nearly 
like England as it could be. The "royal province" continued until 
1698 when it came under the jurisdiction of Massachusetts with Joseph 
Dudley as Governor. Thus it continued until 1741. 

During that time England's throne had been ruled by William and 
Mary, Queen Anne, and George I, and New Hampshire was adminis­
tered by no less than eight lieutenant governors. There had been 
much unrest in England and as a result, to New Hampshire's ad­
vantage, the Scotch settlers of Londonderry in Ireland had in 1719 
sent many of their people here to form a "Scotch" colony in the new 
place they would call our own Londonderry. 

Under King George II New Hampshire returned to its provincial 
status with a governor of its own, Benning Wentworth, who was its 
chief magistrate from 1741 to 1766. 

During the first two decades of Governor Wentworth's term New 
Hampshire had been beset with Indian troubles. With little aid from 
England, then at war with its old-time enemy, France, the colonists 
undertook the sieges of Louisbourg, and helped to reduce Crown 
Point, and in the conquest of Canada. By the time of the signing 
of the Peace of Paris in I 762, and the end of the Indian fighting 
under the Rogers Rangers, the entire north country of New Hamp­
shire was ready to be explored, surveyed, and populated. 

Governor Wentworth who, as if in anticipation of this opportunity, 
seems to have been well prepared for it, had arranged the purchase 
for the sum of fifteen hundred pounds of the unauthenticated claims 
of Robert Mason, heir of Captain John Mason. This was done 
through a group of twelve influential citizens who called themselves 
the "Masonian Proprietors." Having done this, the governor kept the 
land "within the province." 

Governor Wentworth, with all or most of the Masonian Proprie­
tors as his councilors, then proceeded to grant towns to prospective 
,ettlers as equally as possible. In addition to the thirty-eight towns 
already granted, more than a hundred others followed after the year 
1761. These towns contained lots available to more than thirty thou­
sand families, many from the older towns in southern New Hamp• 
,hire and Massachusetts, but many from other neighboring states. 
Some of these towns were located in Vermont, to be released later 
by a court order, which made the western shore of the Connecticut 
River the state boundary line. 

While the new towns were occasionally given the names of the 
leading grantees, not a few of them bore the historic names of English 
royalty, frequently those of friends and relatives of Governor w·ent­
worth and his own royal family, the Rockinghams, in England. Many 
of the beneficiaries were soldiers who had fought in the Indian wars, 
while a few were of Dutch origin, such as might settle from New 
York in New Hampshire. 

The terms of the grants were simple. The Proprietors could convey 
only the soil, while the political rights and powers of government 
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rame from the province. Provision was made that no land should be 
subject to taxation or assessment until improved by those holding the 
titles. Rights were reserved for land for roads, churches and schools, 
to be built within a definite period of time, for the use of ministers 
and in many cases for mill-rights. Fees were nominal, often only a 
shilling or an ear of corn a year. All tall pines should be saved for 
the King's navy. 

Benning Wentworth died in 1770. He was succeeded by his nephew 
who later became Sir John Wentworth, the last of the royal gover­
nors. He is perhaps best known because of his purchase of a thirty­
six mile tract of land on the shore of Lake Winnipesaukee where he 
established an estate known as Kingswood. It afterward became Wolfe. 
borough. 

Governor Sir John Wentworth's beneficial acts to the state included 
the building of roads, including one from Portsmouth to Kingswood; 
publishing the first accurate state map; organizing the State militia, 
a member of which was Major Benjamin Thompson of Concord who 
afterward became known as Count Rumford; his help in founding 
Dartmouth College; and the building of Wentworth House, now owned 
by the State. Loyal to the English crown, he embarked for Nova Scotia 
at the beginning of the Revolution, there to become its Lieutenant­
governor until his death in 1820. 

A pre-Revolution event occurring in New Hampshire was the re­
moval in 1774, by a small party of patriots at New Castle, of the pow­
der and guns at Fort William and Mary. Other Revolutionary events 
included New Hampshire's participation in the Battle of Bunker Hill 
at which nearly all the troops doing the actual fighting were said to 
have been from this State; the signing of the Declaration of Indepen­
dence by New Hampshire's Josiah Bartlett, Matthew Thornton, and 
William Whipple; General John Stark's victory at the Battle of Ben­
nington; and the success of Captain John Paul Jones at sea. 

Just as it was the first to declare its independence and adopt its own 
constitution, New Hampshire was the ninth and deciding state in 
accepting the National Constitution as that of a republic, never to be 
known under any other form of government. New Hampshire's John 
Langdon was the first acting vice-president of the United States, and 
was President of the Senate when W'ashington was elected first presi­
dent. 

Many events have helped to individualize New Hampshire's unique 
history as the decades have followed each other down to the present 
time. Both Washington and Lafayette passed within our borders. 
Meshech Weare was elected the first state "president." Morey's Connec­
ticut River steam-boat preceded Fulton's by seventeen years. An 
American President, Franklin Pierce, and a Vice-president, Henry 
Wilson, were elected, both from New Hampshire. Daniel Webster 
won his famous Dartmouth College case before the Supreme Court. 
The first American public library was established at Peterborough. 
The world-recognized "Concord Coach" was made here, as was Ameri­
ca's first cog-railroad to Mount Washington dating 1869. 
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Statesmen, educators, inventors, preachers, scientists, explorers, au­
thors, industrialists, engineers, lawyers, diplomats, are all arrayed in 
the long line of notables New Hampshire claims as coming from her 
soil. 

GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION 

New Hampshire is situated the most northern of the thirteen ong1-
nal states and lies between latitude 42-40 and 45-18 north and longi­
tude 70-37 and 72-37 west. It is about 180 miles long and 50 miles 
wide, although the extreme width is 93 miles. 

It is bounded on the north by Quebec province in Canada, on the 
east by Maine and the Atlantic ocean, on the south by Massachusetts, 
and on the west by Vermont. The Connecticut River is the western 
boundary. 

"MOTHER OF RIVERS" 

Geographies sometimes speak of the state as the "Mother of Rivers." 
Five of the great streams of New England originate in its granite hills. 
The Connecticut River rises in the northern part, and for nearly 
one hundred miles of its winding course hems the shores of the state 
with a "broad seam of silver." The Pemigewasset River starts in the 
Profile Lake in the Franconia mountains and joins the Winnipesaukee 
at Franklin to form the Merrimack, which at one time turned more 
spindles than any other river in the world. The Cocheco and Salmon 
Falls rivers join at Dover to form the Piscataqua. In addition, two of 
the principal rivers of Maine, the Androscoggin and the Saco, have 
their beginnings in northern New Hampshire. 

New Hampshire has 1300 lakes or ponds and 40,000 miles of rivers 
and streams which provide year round fishing and recreation in scenic 
surroundings, as well as power for the State's many industries. 

"THE GRANITE STATE" 

New Hampshire is commonly known as the ·Granite State, and of 
late years by some writers is called the Queen State - "Queen by 
right of her natural beauty; queen by her native hardy spirit; queen 
by her diversified industry; queen by reason of her motherhood of 
great men. She is enthroned on hills of granite, diademed with spark­
ling waters and sceptered with industry." 

The state entertains annually over a million summer visitors who 
resort in the mountain, lake and seashore scenery, - in fact it has 
been estimated that a million automobiles cross our borders annually! 
The soil is suitable for fruits, flowers and vegetables. The forests of 
pine, spruce and hard wood add beauty to the landscape and wealth 
to the land. 

The White Mountains are the natural feature which has the widest 
fame. New Hampshire bodies of water cover one hundred and fifteen 
thousand acres and vary from small ponds to Lake Winnipesaukee, 
which is twenty-two miles long and eight miles wide. 
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New Hampshire's publicly-owned aerial tramway, the first erected 
to a mountain top in North America, is located in Franconia Notch 
near The Old Man of the Mountain. Its cars have carried 2,000,000 
passengers in their eight-minute ascent of the 2022 feet to the top. 

No state grows apples of finer flavor than come from the hillsides 
of New Hampshire. Horticultural shows have no better exhibits than 
are presented from towns in the southern part of this state, where 
the orchards have been sprayed and treated by the latest scientific 
methods. Strawberries, blueberries, peaches and products of the gar­
den are grown in great quantities and shipped hundreds of miles. 

New Hampshire is also famous for her products made from the 
sap of the maple tree. 

Dairying is a large business and in recent years the quality of the 
herds has increased tenfold. There are 5,779,840 acres of land in the 
state, 1,960,061 acres being in farm land, with the number of farms 
estimated at 16,554, according to the 1940 farm census. There were 
over two and one-half million acres of timber land, which contained 
over thirty billion feet of merchantable timber, but the disastrous 
hurricane of 1938 has sadly depleted the standing timber in New 
Hampshire's granite hills. 

It is estimated that every year more than four million dollars is 
permanently invested in the purchase of land and the construction of 
buildings in the rural districts. Nearly every town has some summer 
visitors. Winnipesaukee shores are lined with cottages and hotels; 
Sunapee has a summer population of over five thousand, who enjoy 
its beauties. 

The state has a seaboard of about eighteen miles. Hampton and 
Rye beaches have been famous summer resorts since the days Whit­
tier pitched his "tent on the beach." The salt waves of the Atlantic 
lap the sometimes sandy, sometimes rocky coast into one continuous 
pleasure ground, where surf bathing and scenic beauty enchant the 
visitor. In the early fall of 1915 a disastrous fire at Hampton Beach 
destroyed many of the hotels and places of business there, but the re­
sort has since been rebuilt from ·the ruins until it is larger and more 
attractive than ever. The recreational area at Hampton Beach has 
greatly improved the appearance of that part of the coast. The state 
maintains a large public bath house and a parking area there. The 
erection of a sea wall in 1934 not only improved the property along 
the coast, but was a necessary measure against- coast erosion. 

Among New Hampshire's all-year, all-season recreation attractions, 
none are more popular than its winter sports. Mount Washington is 
the highest mountain east of the Rockies and north of the Mason­
Dixon Line. Its privately-owned cog railway was the first mountain 
climbing railway in the world. 

New Hampshire has some of the finest ski terrain in the east where 
the sport may be enjoyed well into July and August. Its ·many lifts 
include the widely known Cranmore skimobile, operated all year, and 
Tuckerman, Cannon, Sunapee and Gilford slopes. 

Portsmouth, the only sea city, has an historic past and a prosperous 
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present with its large navy ya'rd. New Castle is a place of romance 
and aesthetic beauty and adventure. A large part of the Isles of 
Shoals in Portsmouth harbor belongs to New Hampshire, with their 
cottages and hotels. Lobster fishermen find the Isles of Shoals and 
the New Hampshire coast favorable areas for taking this famous sea 
food. The state highways are as fine as any state can boast of and 
are kept in excellent driving condition the year round. New Hamp­
shire is open to visitors, from the coast to the mountains, twelve 
months in the year. 

FISH AND GAME 

In 1865 New Hampshire joined the vanguard of American science 

by establishing a fish and game department, the first one of its kind 
in New England. Since that date, some eighty odd years ago, the 
efforts of this department have been devoted to the propagation and 
conservation of fish and game. 

In modem times the cultivation of fish and the protection of wild 
life have demanded the application of scientific methods quite as 
much as any other element of our life. It is a known fact that while 
European countries have found vast resources in their shore fisheries, 
the United States is by no means able to rely on her coast fisheries, 
and has thus been obliged to develop her inland waters to meet the 
needs that otherwise could have been met only by importation from 
other countries. Moreover, while Europe's supply is bound to lessen 
in time to come, our supply will continue to increase. 

Today, New Hampshire's Fish and Game Department employs a 
balanced team of trained wildlife men, fish culturists, and law en­
forcement officers to maintain and increase the available supplies of 
her native species under the pressure of vastly increased demand. To 
do so means that every one of her waters and every bit of cover must 
be contributing its full share to the state's crop. Research personnel 
are constantly exploring new avenues to increase natural productivity, 
while evaluating the results of current practices. 

Since World War II, a program of modernization and expansion of 
fish rearing facilities has more than doubled the annual output avail­
able for stocking. Beautiful new rearing stations which rank with 
any in the country for modern design and efficient operation have 
been built at Merrymeeting Lake, New Durham at Summer Brook 
in Ossipee, and at Merrimack, between Manchester and Nashua. Five 
other stations at Colebrook, Twin Mountain, Warren, New Hampton, 
and Richmond have been completely reconditioned. 

Fish and game is now recognized as a major factor in the recreation 
business which is one of New Hampshire's foremost sources of revenue. 
We can be justly proud of the effective teamwork between depart­
ment personnel and the sportsmen of the state who are looking for­
ward with the eye of true conservationists to establishing the fish and 
wildlife species of our state on a secure footing for future years. Deer, 
grouse, black bear, snowshoe hares, landlocked salmon, togue, black 
bass, and several species of brook trout are only a few of the wild 

HISTORY OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 117 

residents which are to be found in such plenty as to make sportsmen 
choose New Hampshire first. 

"COME TO NEW HAMPSHIRE" 

New Hampshire believes in progress and development in every 
direction. It is the third most industrialized state in the Union and 
prizes itself on the quality and diversification of its products. New 
Hampshire is the home of the famous breed of poultry known as the 
"New Hampshires." She invites the whole world to visit her moun­
tains, the "playground of America." Those seeking opportunity for 
profitable farming will do well to write for further information to the 
Commissioner of Agriculture, Concord, N. H.; sportsmen are invited 
to send for literature and advice to the Fish and game Director, Con­
cord, N. H.; those looking for business openings, either in manufactur­
ing enterprises or in the retail field, should correspond with the New 
Hampshire Dept. of Resources and Economic Development, Concord, 
N. H. 

The Boston & Maine Railroad Publicity Bureau at Boston, Mass., 
Storrowton Village, Eastern States Exposition Grounds, West Spring­
field, Mass., the New Hampshire Manufacturers' Association and the 
New Hampshire Historical Society, Concord, N. H., are other sources 
from which information not given in this volume may be secured. 

THE STATE HOUSE 

The first discussions regarding the erection of a suitable state capitol 
building in New Hampshire took place in the year 1814. It was in­
deed a memorable year. The War of 1812 had come to a close with 
the signing of the Treaty of Ghent, although the news had not reached 
America until after our troops under General Jackson had continued 
fighting into 1815 and won the famous battle of New Orleans. 

Other matters attracted state attention. One was the election of a 
"Republican" governor, William Plumer, who defeated the "Federal­
ists." Another was the Dartmouth College case in which the Gover­
nor favored state domination of the College. The legislature con­
sidered the proposed new capitol building, but first had to determine 
in what locality it would be. 

The contest was between Concord, Hopkinton, and Salisbury, the 
last named town having offered seven thousand dollars for the honor. 
In the end Concord won, and by 1816 final action had been taken to 
build there. 

Considerable expense was saved the town of Concord by the de­
cision to build the Capitol of granite from what are now the Swen­
son quarries at the north end of the town, and to have the cutting 
and shaping and facing of the stones done by the inmates of the prison. 

A feature of the new and imposing building thus provided was its 
huge gold-painted wooden eagle, which was raised to the top of the 
dome in 1818. Appropriate ceremonies presided over by Governor 
Plumer were marked by a series of toasts, one of which was, "The 
American Eagle. May the shadow of his wings protect every acre of 
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our united continent and the lightning of his eye flash terror and

defeat through the ranks of our enemies."

The new building's actual cost was only approximately $82,000, but

it provided adequate quarters for the legislature and committees, the

Governor and Council, the Secretary of State, the Treasurer, and the

library. Stuart J. Park, the builder, goes down in history as having

done · an admirable job, and he has a Concord street to the north of

the building, Park Street, named in his honor. The first session of the

legislature to be held in the new building was in 1819. 

There is no record of discussion of enlargements or expansion of

Capitol facilities until 1857. At that time there was pointed out the

need for more library space and rooms for new departments. Noth­

ing was done, however, until the problem became acute in one of the

Civil War years, 1863, through the offer of the city of Manchester

of a sizeable sum to build a new capitol and locate it there. This

amount was stated to be no less than half a million dollars. 

The legislature having voted to retain the Capitol in Concord, plans 

were at once made to undf"rtake its enlargement and remodeling.

This was begun in 1864 and completed by 1866. The cost was said to

have been approximately $200,000.
In 1881, plans having been proposed to gain new space for needs

caused by growth in State operations, by the removal of the library

to a building of its own, plans for such a building were made. These

plans, as ultimately adopted, not only provided for a "State Library,"

but for the Supreme Court as well, and the building was finally com­

pleted in 1895. The Library was later enlarged in 1903.

Not until 1903 was the problem of increasing needs for more space

in the conduct of the State's business to come under discussion. In

this discussion the point was conclusively made that "the majority of

State offices cannot be provided with accommodations and are located 

in other buildings .•.. " and that this was uneconomical and ought 

to be corrected. 
Acting under a resolution which instructed the Governor and Coun-

cil to remedy this situation, Governor Bachelder employed a firm of

Boston architects to prepare a plan for an extensive enlargement of

the Capitol. 
The arguments included the danger from fire, the inadequacy of 

the House and Senate to seat the membership, and the lack of meet­

ing rooms for the legislative committees. This called for what 

amounted to an entirely new state house at an expense of approxi­

mately a million dollars, and by 1909 a bill for such an amount was

introduced. 
Again the city of Manchester entered the scene, offering the million

if the state house might be removed and rebuilt there. The legislature

voted again to retain the Capitol in Conoord, and an act for the is­

suance of bonds for the construction required was passed.

Governor Quinby and his Council then employed architects under

whose plans the entire building was remodeled precisely as it is to­

day, making the entire building fire-proof in all its parts, providing
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electric elevators, modern lighting, vaults, and an up-to-date heating 
system, During the years following, the proposal of 1903 regarding 
the necessity of providing for the various departments under one 
head was again considered, and plans were drawn in 1937 for the 
present State House Annex. 

The corner-stone for this new undertaking was laid in 1938, and 
the cost at completion, including a considerable grant from the fed­
eral government, amounted to $327,000. Here are housed more than 

twenty of the State's departments in modern, well-equipped offices. 
The Annex is connected by an underground passageway with the 
Capitol itself. 

Since the building of the Annex, other improvements have been 

undertaken to keep the State government in step with modern prog­
ress. Recently the entire outer surface of the Capitol Building has 
been expertly sanded and washed, restoring the granite stones to their 
original clean, fresh appearance. 

Likewise the statues of John Stark, Daniel Webster, President 
Pierce, John P. Hale, and Commodore Perkins have been properly 
cleaned and made tarnishproof by a modern professional process. 
Also the gilded wooden eagle, the Capitol Building's long familiar 
emblem, having been found to be suffering from the effects of many 
decades of weathering, has been replaced by an element-proof metal 
replica which now adorns the dome where its gold will glisten in the 
sunshine of long years to come. These things are among the accom­
plishments of the administration of Governor Lane Dwinell. 

OUTLINE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE GOVERNMENTAL 

PERIODS 

I. First Period
This was a period of early settlement in New Hampshire, from

1623 to 1641, a period of 18 years. There was no provincial organi­
zation, only local self-government. The first settlements were at Ports­
mouth and Dover. 

Royal Executive 
James I 

1623-26 
Charles I 
1626-50 

Governor of 
Plymouth Colony 

William Bradford 
1623-33 

Edward Winslow 
1634 

Thomas Prince 
1635 

William Bradford 
1636 

Edward Winslow 
1637 

Governor of 
Massachusetts Bay 
John Winthrop 

1631-35 
Thomas Dudley 

1635 
John Haynes 

1636 
Henry Vane 

1637 

(First Settlements at Hampton and Exeter) 
William Bradford John Winthrop 

1638 1638-40 
Thomas Prince Thomas Dudley 

1639 1641 
William Bradford 

1640-44 
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Engrossed Title of Act Approved 

Vol. 24, An act to constitute a new county in July 5, 1827p. 221. this state by the name of Sullivan.*"" 

Vol. 26, An act declaring the limits and boun-
daries of the several counties of this Jan. 2, 1829 p. 355. state. 

Vol. 34, An act to constitute the counties of Dec. 22, 1840p. 418. Belknap and Carroll. 

Vol. 35, An act in addition to an act entitled 
"An act to constitute the counties of Jan. 29, 1841 p. 20. Belknap and Carroll." 

Vol. 44, An act to disannex Bartlett, Jackson 

68. and Hart's Location from Coos county Jan. 5, 1853 
P· and to annex the same to Carroll County. 

Vol. 60, An act to disannex Hill in the county 

127. of Grafton and annex the said town to July I, 1868 p. the county of Merrimack.

Vol. 66, An act to sever the town of Danbury 

413. from Grafton county and to annex it to July 10, 1874p. Merrimack county. 

As parts of Massachusetts Bay Colony (1641-3 to 1679) the towns 
of Hampton, Exeter, Dover, and Strawberry Bank were comprised 
within Norfolk county, which was one of the four shires, viz., Essex, 
Middlesex, Suffolk, and Norfolk, into which the Bay Colony was 
separated from "3d month, 10th day 1643." 

'The Province of New Hampshire agitated the subject of county 
establishment for years previous to decisive action in 1769, one plan, 
which came to nought in 1755, being to make two counties, Ports­
mouth and Cumberland, with the Merrimack as the dividing line. 

The act which passed April 29, I 769, contained the provision that 
it should not take effect until "his majesty's royal approbation there­
of be known," and the further provision that "said counties of Straf­
ford and Grafton shall be for the present annexed to and deemed 
and taken as parts and members of the County of Rockingham ..,. 
until the governor by and with the advice of the council shall de­
clare them respectively sufficient for the exercise of their respective 
jurisdictions and no longer." Governor John Wentworth, in a mes­
sage to the house of representatives in March, 1771, said "It gives 
me great pleasure to inform you that his majesty has been graciously 
pleased to approve and confirm the act for dividing this Province into 
counties." The existence of Rockingham, Hillsborough, and Cheshire 
counties began on March 19, 1771, Strafford and Grafton having re­
ceived authority to- exercise and enjoy county privileges, as set forth 
in Governor John Wentworth's message to the house on May 28, 1772, 
their separation from Rockingham became effective on June 5, 1773, 
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by the terms of the act of February 5, 1773, "fixing the times and 
places for holding courts in """ Grafton county," four months being 
allowed for the building of "prisons, court houses," etc. 

FIRST DIVISION 

The division of 1769, by the "Act for dividing this Province into 
Counties and for the more easy administration of Justice," was as 
foliows: "The bounds of the first County to begin at the mouth of 
Piscataqua River and to run up the same to the Easterly corner of 
Newmarket including the River, and from thence Northwesterly 
by the Easterly and Northerly sidelines of Newmarket, Epping, Not• 
tingham, Chichester and Canterbury to the River, and down the 
same line of Concord including the River, then round the Westerly 
Lines of Bow, Concord and Pembroke to Merrimack River, thence 
down the same to the North west corner of Derryfield, thence by 
the Easterly lines of Derryfield, Litchfield and Nottingham. West to 
the Province Line, thence by said line to the Sea, thence by the Sea 
to the bounds first mentioned, including all that part of the Isles 
of Shoals which belongs to this Province. 

"The Bounds of the Second County to begin at the North west 
corner of Canterbury, and from thence to cross the River, then down 
the River to Pemigewasset, then to run up Pemigewasset River to 
Campton, thence round the Westerly end of Campton, and by the 
Northerly sidelines of Campton, Sandwich & Tamworth & thence 
Easterly to the Province line, on the same course with the Northerly 
sideline of Eaton, thence down said Province line to the line of the 
first County, thence by the same to the bounds first mentioned. 

"The bounds of the Third County to begin at the South East cor­
ner of Nottingham West, thence by the Province line to the South 
East corner of Rindge, thence by the Easterly sideline of Rindge, 
Monadnock Number two, Dublin, the Townships Number Six, Num­
ber Seven & Number Eight, thence to the South end of Sunnape 
Pond, thence by the Easterly side of said Pond, to the North end there­
of, thence by the North westerly sideline of Dantzick Heidlebourg, and 
by the Northerly sidelines of Heidlebour� and North Westerly side­
line of Emery's Town to Pemigewasset River, thence down the same 
to the bounds of the first County, thence by the same to the bounds 
first mentioned. 

"The bounds of . the Fourth County to begin at the South East 
corner of Rindge, & from thence to run Westerly by the Province 
line to the Western Banks of Connecticut River, thence up the same 
till it comes opposite to the North west corner of Plainfield, then 
crossing the River to the last mentioned corner of Plainfield, thence 
by the Northerly sidelines of Plainfield & Grantham, to the North 
East corner of Grantham thence by the Easterly sideline of Grantham 
& the North sideline of Saville to the boundary line of the third 
County, thence by the same to the bounds first mentioned. 

"And the fifth County to contain all the lands in the Province not 
comprehended in the other Countys. 
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"And all the Towns, Parishes, Precincts or Places within the bounds 
aforesaid respectively shall be deemed, accepted, named & taken as 
parts and Members of the respective Countys aforesaid. And the 
Names of the said Counties shall be and are hereby as follows viz 
the name of the first County Rockingham, the name of the second 
County Strafford, the Name of the Third County Hillsborough, the 
Name of the fourth County Cheshire, the Name of the fifth County 
Grafton.'""" 

"That the said Counties of Strafford & Grafton shall be for the 
present annexed to, & deemed & taken as parts and Members of the 
County of Rockingham and Subject to the Jurisdiction and Author­
ity of the Courts, Magistrates and Officers of the said County of 
Rockingham to all intents and purposes and shall remain so an­
nexed, deemed & taken and Subject until the Governor by and with 
the advice and consent of the Council shall declare them respectively 
sufficient for the exercise of their respective Jurisdictions and no 
longer.""'• 

"That the Times and Places of holding the said Courts in the said 
Counties of Strafford and- Grafton shall be established as the Gover­
nor, Council and Assembly shall Judge most Convenient at the Time 
the Governor and Council shall determine they may assume the actual 
exercise of their County Privileges. - But that this act nor any Clause 
therein shall be in force nor have any Effect till his Majesty's Royal 
approbation thereof be known." 

BOUNDARIES DEFINED 

The act of 1791, "declaring the Limits & boundaries of the several 
Counties in this State," redefined the counties as follows: "Rock­

ingham: Beginning at the Mouth of Piscataqua River and running 
up the same to the Easterly corner of Newmarket including the River 
and from thence Northwesterly by the Easterly and Northerly side 
Lines of Newmarket, Epping, Nottingham, Northwood, Pittsfield, Chi­
chester, Louden, Canterbury and Northfield to the River Merrimac, 
and down the same to the line of Concord including the River, then 
Round the Westerly line of Concord & Bow to Merrimack River, thence 
down the same to the Northwest Corner of Deerfield, thence by the 
Northerly and Easterly lines of Derryfield and the Easterly lines of 
Litchfield and Nottingham West to the State Line, thence by said 
line to the Sea, thence by the Sea to the bounds. first Mentioned, in­
cluding all that part of the Isle of Shoals which belongs to this State. 

"Strafford: Beginning at the North west corner of Northfield 
thence up the River Pemigewasset or Merrimac to the South West 
Corner of New Holderness thence on the Southerly and Easterly 
lines of New Holderness to Sandwich, then on the Westerly and 
Northerly lines of Sandwich to Tamworth, then on the Northerly 
lines of Tamworth and Eaton to Conway from thence on the West­
erly and Northerly lines of Conway to the State Line, thence down 
said Line to the line of the County of Rockingham thence by said 
line of the County of Rockingham to the bounds first mentioned. 
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"Hillsborough: Beginning at the south East Corner of Nottrng­
ham West thence Westerly by the State Line to the South East Cor­
ner of Rindge, thence by the Easterly side Lines of Rindge, Jaffrey, 
Dublin, Packersfield, Stoddard and \Vashington to the North East­
erly Corner of Washington to the south Westerly corner of Fishers­
field, thence on the Westerly side Line of Fishersfield and New Lon­
don to the North Westerly corner of said New London thence on the 
northeasterly lines of New London and Kyarserge and the Northerly 
side Line of Andover to Pemegewasset River, thence on the Line 
of the County of Strafford & Rockingham to the bounds first men­
tioned. 

"Cheshire: Beginning at the South East corner of Rindge and 
from thence running Westerly by the State Line to the Westerly 
Bank of Connecticut River thence up the same 'till it comes opposite 
to the North West corner of Plainfield then crossing the river to the 
said Corner of Plainfield thence by the Northerly line of Plainfield, 
New-Grantham and Protectworth to the boundary line of the County 
of Hillsborough thence by the Westerly Line of said County of Hills­
borough to the bounds first mentioned. 

"Grafton: The County of Graifton shall contain all the Lands and 
Waters in said State not comprehended in the Counties." 

COOS COUNTY ESTABLISHED 

The act of 1803, which became effective on March I, 1805, estab­
lished Coos County with the following boundaries: "North of line 
beginning on the Westerly Bank of the Connecticut river at the 
Southwesterly Corner of Dalton and running on the Westerly and 
Southerly line of Dalton to Whitefield, thence on the Westerly and 
Southerly line of Whitefield to Bretton Woods, thence on the West­
erly and southerly line of Bretton Woods to the Southeasterly Corner 
thereof, thence Southerly on a straight line across the unlocated 
lands to the line of the County of Strafford at the North-westerly 
Corner of Tamworth, thence on the line of the County of Strafford 
to the line of the District of Maine to contain all the lands and 
waters Northerly of the above described line, consisting of the fol­
lowing towns, namely Dalton, Whitefield, Bretton Woods, Bartlett, 
Adams, Chatham, Shelburne, Shelburne Addition, Durand, Kilkenny, 
Jefferson, Lancaster, Millsfield, Northumberland, Stratford, Wales 
Gore, Cockburne, Colebrook, Stuarttown, Piercy, Paulsburgh, Maines­
brough, Dummer, Errol, Cambridge and Success." 

MERRIMACK COUNTY ESTABLISHED 

The act of 1823 constituted Merrimack county from August I, 
1823, as follows: "To contain all the lands and waters included in 
the following towns and places which now constitute a part of the 
County of Rockingham, to wit: Allenstown, Bow, Canterbury, Chi-
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Acworth. Granted 1752 by Governor Benning Wentworth as 
Burnet, bearing the name of Governor William Burnet of Massachu­
setts. Incorporated 1766 as Acworth, the name of Lord Acworth of 
England. Sullivan county, second congressional, fifth councilor and 
eighth senatorial districts. 

Albany. Granted 1766 by Governor Benning Wentworth as Bur• 
ton, bearing the name of Henry Paget, Baron Burton. Incorporated 
1833 as Albany. Carroll county, first congressional, first councilor 
and fourth senatorial districts. 

Alexandria. Granted 1753 by Governor Benning Wentworth. In­
corporated 1872. Grafton county, second congressional, first councilor 
and fifth senatorial districts. 

Allenstown. Granted 1721 by Governor Samuel Shute of Massa­
chusetts and named for his predecessor, Governor Samuel Allen. In­
corporated 1831. Part of Bow annexed, 1815. Part of Hooksett an­
nexed, 1853. Merrimack county, first congressional, fifth councilor and 
fourteenth senatorial districts. 

Alstead. Granted 1752 by Governor Benning Wentworth as New• 
ton. Incorporated 1763 as Alstead. Cheshire county, second congres­
sional, fourth councilor and tenth senatorial districts. 

Alton. Incorporated 1796, originally New Durham Gore. Barn­
door Island annexed, 1799. Belknap county, first congressional, second 
councilor and fifteenth senatorial districts. 

Amherst. Granted 1728 by Governor William Burnet as Narragansett 
Number Three. Also known as Salem Narragansett and Souhegan 
West. Incorporated 1760 by Governor Benning Wentworth as Amherst, 
the name of Jeffrey, Lord Amherst. Part of Monson, bearing the name 
of Lewis Watson, Baron Monson of England, annexed, 1770. Part of 
Milford annexed, 1842. Hillsborough county, second congressional, 
fourth councilor and twelfth senatorial districts. 

Andover. Granted by Governor Benning Wentworth, 1751, as New 
Breton, Breton being the name of the Cape at which the famous 
battle of Louisbourg was fought. Prior to that it was kown as Brown's 
town and Emery's town. Incorporated as Andover in 1779. Merrimack 
county, second congressional, fifth councilor and seventh senatorial 
districts. 

Antrim. Incorporated in 1777 bearing the name of County Antrim 
in North Ireland from which came many of the settlers of London­
derry. Originally a part of Cumberland, the name of William Augustus, 
son of King George II, Duke of Cumberland. Hillsborough county, 
second congressional, fourth councilor and ninth senatorial districts. 
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Ashland. Incorporated 1868, having originally been a part of 
Holderness. Grafton county, second congressional, first councilor and 
third senatorial districts. 

Atkinson. Incorporated by Governor John Wentworth, 1767, as 
Atkinson, bearing the name of Theodore Atkinson, Secretary of the 
Council. Originally a part of Plaistow. Rockingham county, first 
congressional, second councilor, and twenty-second senatorial districts. 

Auburn. Incorporated 1845, having originally been a part of 
Chester and known as Long Meadow. Rockingham county, first con­
gressional, third councilor and nineteenth senatorial districts. 

Barnstead. Granted by Lieutenant-Governor John Wentworth, 
1727. Part of Alton annexed, 1840. Belknap county, first congressional, 
second councilor and fifteenth senatorial districts. 

Barrington. Granted by Governor Samuel Shute, 1722, bearing the 
name of Lord Barrington, brother of Governor Samuel Shute, of 
Massachusetts. Incorporated 1742. Strafford county, first congressional, 
second councilor and twenty-first senatorial districts. 

Bartlett. Incorporated 1790, bearing the name of Josiah Bartlett, 
signer of the Declaration of Independence and President of New 
Hampshire. Part of Jackson annexed, 1823. Carroll county, first con­
gressional, first councilor and fourth senatorial districts. 

Bath. Granted by Governor Benning Wentworth, 1761, bearing 
the name of William Pulteney, Earl of Bath. Grafton county, second 
congressional, first councilor and third senatorial districts. 

Bedford. Granted by Governor Jonathan Belcher, 1734 as Narra­
gansett Number Five. Incorporated by Governor Benning Wentworth, 
1750, as Bedford, bearing the name of Sir John Russell, Duke of 
Bedford. Hillsborough county, first congressional, fourth councilor 
and fourteenth senatorial districts. 

Belmont. Incorporated 1859, having originally been a part of 
Gilmanton bearing the name of August Belmont, who died in 1869. 
Belknap county, first congressional, second councilor and sixth sena­
torial districts. 

Bennington. Incorporated 1842, having originally been a part of 
Deering, Francestown, Greenfield and Hancock. Hillsborough county, 
second congressional, fourth councilor and ninth senatorial districts. 

Benton. Granted by Governor Benning Wentworth, 1764, as 
Coventry, the name of George William Coventry, Earl of Coventry. 
Incorporated 1840 as Benton after Senator Thomas Hart Benton. 
Grafton county, second congressional, first councilor and third sena­
torial districts. 

Bethlehem. Granted by Governor John Wentworth, 1774 origi­
nally known as Lloyd's Hills, named for James Lloyd of Boston. In-
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Regranted 1770 by Governor John Wentworth as Cockburn, the name 
of Sir James Cockburne. Incorporated 18l l  as Columbia. Coos county, 
second congressional, first councilor and second senatorial districts. 

Conway. Granted 1765 by Governor Benning Wentworth, bear­
ing the name of General Henry Seymour Conway, Earl of Hertford, 
England. Carroll county, first congressional, first councilor and fourth 
sen a to rial districts. 

Cornish. Granted 1763 by Governor Benning Wentworth, bear­
the name of Admiral Sir Samuel Cornish of London. Part of Croy­
don annexed 1809 and part of Grantham annexed 1844. Sullivan 
county, second congressional, fifth councilor and eighth senatorial 
districts. 

Croydon. Granted 1763 by Governor Benning Wentworth. Sulli­
van county, second congressional, fifth councilor and eighth senatorial 
districts. 

Dalton. Granted 1764 by Governor Benning Wentworth as Chis­
wick, the name of the Duke of Devonshire's castle. Incorporated 1784 
as Dalton, the name of one of the incorporators. Coos county, second 
congressional, first councilor and second senatorial districts. 

Danbury. Incorporated 1795, originally having been a part of 
Alexandria. Parts of Wilmot annexed 1848 and 1878 and parts of Hill 
annexed, 1858. Merrimack county, second congressional, fifth coun­
cilor and seventh senatorial districts. 

Danville. Granted 1760 by Governor Benning Wentworth as 
Hawke, the name of Admiral Sir Edward Hawke. Incorporated as 
Danville 1836. Part of Fremont annexed 1783 and part of Hampstead 
annexed, 1877. Rockingham county, first congressional, second coun­
cilor and twenty-second senatorial districts. 

Deerfield. Incorporated 1766 by Governor Benning Wentworth, 
originally been a part of Nottingham. Rockingham county, first con­
gressional, second councilor and twenty-first senatorial districts. 

Deering. Granted 1774 by Governor John Wentworth, bearing 
the family name of his wife's mother. Originally known as Cumber­
land, the name of William Augustus, Duke of Cumberland and So­
ciety-land. Hillsborough county, second congressional, fourth coun­
cilor and ninth senatorial districts. 

Derry. Incorporated 1827, originally a part of Londonderry. 
Named for the home of the Scotch Colony coming from the north 
of Ireland. Rockingham county, first congressional, third councilor 
and nineteenth senatorial districts. 

Dorchester. Granted 1761 by Governor Benning Wentworth, bear­
ing the name of Sir Guy Carleton, Lord Dorchester. Grafton county, 
second congressional, first councilor and fifth senatorial districts. 
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Dublin. Granted 1749 by Governor Benning Wentworth as Mo­
nadnock. Incorporated by Governor John Wentworth 1771 as Dublin, 
the name of 'the town in Ireland. Cheshire county, second congres­
sional, fourth councilor and eleventh senatorial districts. 

Dummer. Granted 1773 by Governor John Wentworth, bearing 
the name of Governor William Dummer of Massachusetts. Incorpo­
rated 1848. Part of Stark annexed 1868. Coos county, second congres­
sional, first councilor and second senato,rial districts. 

Dunbarton. Granted 1735 by Governor Jonathan Belcher as Gor­
hamtown. Regranted by Governor Benning Wentworth 1748 as Stark­
town after the father of General John Stark. Incorporated 1765 as 
Dunbarton after Dumbartonshire in Scotland. Merrimack county, 
second congressional, fifth councilor and fourteen senatorial districts. 

Durham. Incorporated 1732 by Governor Jonathan Belcher, origi­
nally having been known as Oyster River. Strafford county, first 
congressional, second councilor and twenty-first senatorial districts. 

East Kingston. Incorporated 1738 by Governor Jonathan Belcher, 
originally having been a part of Kingston. Rockingham county, first 
congressional, second councilor and twenty-second senatorial districts. 

Easton. Incorporated 1876, having originally been a part of 
Lincoln and Landaff. Grafton county, second congressional, first 
councilor and third senatorial districts. 

Eaton. Granted 1766 by Governor Benning Wentworth, bearing 
the name of Governor Theophilus Eaton of Connecticut. Carroll 
county, first congressional, first councilor and fourth senatorial dis­
tricts. 

Effingham. Granted 1749 by Governor Benning Wentworth as 
Leavittstown. Incorporated 1778 as Effingham after Sir Francis How­
ard of Effingham. Parts of Ossipee and Wakefield annexed 1820. Car­
roll county, first congressional, first councilor and fourth senatorial 
districts. 

Ellsworth. Granted 1769 by Governor John Wentworth as Treco­
thick, the name of Barlow Trecothick, Lord Mayor of London, and 
head of the East India Company. Incorporated 1802 as Ellsworth, 
named for Chief Justice Oliver Ellsworth. Grafton county, second con­
gressional, first councilor and fifth senatorial districts. 

Enfield. Granted 1761 by Governor Benning Wentworth as End­
field and regranted by Governor John Wentworth as Relhan, the 
name of Dr. Anthony Relhan, one of the incorporators. Incorporated 
as Enfield, 1784. Part of Grantham annexed 1837. Grafton county, 
second congressional, first councilor and fifth senatorial districts. 

Epping. Incorporated 1741 by Governor Benning ·wentworth, 
originally having been a part of Exeter. Rockingham county, first 
congressional, second councilor and twenty-second senatorial districts. 
























